Harnessing the diversity of Burkholderia spp. prophages for therapeutic potential

by

Hayley R Nordstrom

Bachelor of Science, Bucknell University, 2012

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

Graduate School of Public Health in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

2022

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

GRADUATE SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

This thesis was presented

by

Hayley R Nordstrom

It was defended on

April 25, 2022

and approved by

Amy Hartman PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, University of Pittsburgh Graduate School of Public Health

Jeremy Martinson DPhil, Assistant Professor, Department of Infectious Diseases and Microbiology, University of Pittsburgh Graduate School of Public Health

Thesis Advisor/Dissertation Director: Daria Van Tyne PhD, Assistant Professor, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine

Copyright © by Hayley Renee Nordstrom

2022

Harnessing the diversity of Burkholderia spp. prophages for therapeutic potential

Hayley Renee Nordstrom, MS University of Pittsburgh, 2022

Burkholderia is a genus of gram-negative bacteria that naturally reside in the environment. Several species within this genus constitute a major health threat to humans, specifically for people with compromised immune systems or chronic lung diseases such as cystic fibrosis (CF) and chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). Members of Burkholderia are often resistant to antibiotics and infections with these organisms are difficult to treat, particularly those caused by bacteria in the Burkholderia cepacia complex (Bcc). A potential alternative treatment for these resistant infections is bacteriophage (phage) therapy: the therapeutic use of viruses that target bacteria. However, phage therapy is hindered by difficulty in locating bacteriophages that target members of the Burkholderia genus. Bacteriophages incorporated into a cell's genome, also known as prophages, have been identified within Burkholderia, and may represent a rich source of phages for antimicrobial therapy. The goal of this study was to investigate whether prophages within the genomes of Burkholderia clinical isolates can be harvested and used to kill conspecific and heterospecific species in the genus. Thirty-two Burkholderia isolates were screened for prophage release, and harvested prophages were tested for lytic activity using a plaque assay-based screen against the same 32 Burkholderia isolates. Through all-by-all screening and subsequent whole genome sequencing of phages and host bacteria isolates, we identified and characterized 4 unique bacteriophages of prophage origin. These newly isolated phages were characterized by host-range analysis, whole genome sequencing, and electron microscopy. Several phages showed a range of lytic activity on both conspecific and heterospecific species of *Burkholderia*. We also analyzed

prophage content of 35 *Burkholderia* clinical isolates and found that each isolate genome encoded between 0-4 different prophages. Some prophages were found to be present in the genomes of multiple isolates of the same species. Finally, while prophage abundance was not associated with phage susceptibility, we did observe that members of *B. cenocepacia* were more phage susceptible compared to members of *B. multivorans*. Overall, the data gathered in this study suggest that prophages present within *Burkholderia spp*. genomes are a potentially useful starting point for the isolation and development of novel bacteriophages for use in phage therapy.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgementsx
1.0 Introduction1
1.1 Burkholderia Bacteria1
1.2 Bacteriophage Biology 4
1.3 Bacteriophage Therapy5
1.4 Isolation of Bacteriophages for Clinical Use7
2.0 Statement of Project and Specific Aims
2.1 Aim 19
2.2 Aim 2 10
2.3 Aim 3 10
3.0 Materials and Methods 12
3.1 Bacterial Isolates 12
3.2 Induction of Prophage Release12
3.3 Isolation and Passaging of Bacteriophages13
3.4 Preparation of High-Titer Phage Lysates14
3.5 DNA Extraction and Whole Genome Sequencing14
3.6 Genomic Analysis15
3.7 Bacteriophage Host Range Screening16
3.8 EM Imaging 16
3.9 Statistical Analysis17
4.0 Results

4.1 AIM 1: Induction and Isolation of <i>Burkholderia</i> -targeting Phages	18
4.2 AIM 2: Host Range Screen	19
4.3 AIM 3 (A): Genomic Characterization of Isolated Phages	22
4.4 AIM 3 (B): Genomic Characterization of Bacteria and their Prophages	24
4.5 AIM 3 (C): Association Between Prophages and Phage Susceptibility	30
5.0 Discussion	32
Appendix A	36
Appendix B	37
Bibliography	39

List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of extracted <i>Burkholderia</i> proprophages showing lytic activity	22
Table 2. Summary of unique isolated <i>Burkholderia</i> -targeting bacteriophages	23
Appendix Table 1. Prophages Identified in <i>Burkholderia</i> Bacterial Isolate Genomes	. 36

List of Figures

Figure 1. Phylogenetic relationship of <i>Burkholderia</i> bacteria species
Figure 2. Illustration of the bacteriophage lytic and lysogenic life cycles
Figure 3. Illustration of prophage release induction methods
Figure 4 Infectivity of isolated phages against generically diverse clinical Burkholderia spp
isolates
Figure 5. Electron micrograph of bacteriophage BCC02 24
Figure 6(A). Number of prophages and bacteriophage susceptibility of diverse panel of
Burkholderia spp. Isolates
Figure 6(B). Number of prophages and bacteriophage susceptibility of diverse panel of
Burkholderia spp
Figure 7(A). Clusters of prophages found in the genomes of <i>Burkholderia</i> spp. Isolates 29
Figure 7(B). Clusters of prophages found in the genomes of <i>Burkholderia</i> spp. Isolates 30
Figure 8. Relationship of prophage abundance and phage susceptibility
Appendix Figure 1. Usage License Details
Appendix Figure 2. Usage License Details

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude to my research mentor Dr. Daria Van Tyne, without whom this work would not be possible. Thank you for taking a chance on me as a laboratory technician with little experience and for always fostering my strengths and listening to my sometimes-half-baked ideas. I also owe much of my graduate school success to my brilliant husband, Loren, who helps to keep me sane and on-task and always comes through with the most effective edits to my writing and presentations. I also want to thank my Mom and my Grandma and Grandpa for their unwavering support. Making them proud has always been my strongest academic motivation. Even though my Grandpa, Vince, is no longer here to see the completion of this project, I know he would be my biggest cheerleader in this moment. And finally, a special thank-you to my mom's lifelong friend Don Parisi, whom I have never met in person, but who gifted me the book that changed my career path and directly led me to this thesis project!

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Burkholderia Bacteria

Burkholderia is a genus of gram-negative bacteria, encompassing a large number of diverse species (1). These organisms are abundant in the environment, are found readily in both soil and water, and are associated with the rhizospheres of several species of plants (2),(3). *Burkholderia* are impressive habitat generalists, meaning that they show broad environmental tolerance and metabolic flexibility. These species are capable of using a wide range of energy sources for growth and metabolism (2). Some bacteria within this genus have been shown to possess the ability to break down environmental pollutants and even use the antibiotic Penicillin G as a sole carbon source (2). Members of this genus have particularly large genomes (6-9 Mb), likely aiding in their flexible lifestyle (2).

Burkholderia bacteria are also opportunistic pathogens of humans, particularly members of the notorious *Burkholderia* cepacia complex (Bcc), a group of at least twenty species which possess high levels of intrinsic resistance to multiple classes of antibiotics (4). Opportunistic pathogens of humans are organisms that do not normally cause harm, but are capable of causing disease in those who's defenses or resistance are low. While infections caused by *Burkholderia* are relatively rare in healthy people, these bacteria are a particular risk for patients with compromised immune systems, or chronic conditions such as cystic fibrosis (CF) and chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (5–7). Epidemiological studies have identified highly transmissible Bcc lineages associated with both nosocomial and community outbreaks (4). Bcc bacteria are recognized as a clinically important pathogen in CF patient communities, as they are linked with

rapid community transmission and aggressive pathogenesis in these patient groups (6). Chronic colonization with *Burkholderia* in CF patients is associated with increased morbidity and mortality, decreased lung function, as well as shorter life expectancy, with some patients progressing to "cepacia syndrome," a dangerous condition characterized by necrotizing pneumonia, septicemia, and high mortality (6, 8, 9).

Treatment of Bcc infections is further complicated by exceptional intrinsic resistance to many classes of antibiotics, including beta-lactams, aminoglycosides, quinolones, polymyxins, tetracyclines, chloramphenicol and trimethoprim (10, 11). Resistance of Bcc species to antibiotics has been attributed to multiple different cellular mechanisms, including efflux pumps to extrude antibiotic compounds, decreased membrane permeability, production of antimicrobial altering enzymes, and alteration of drug targets within the cell structure (12). Multiple members of the Bcc species group have also been shown to be resistant to benzalkonium chloride, a compound used as the active ingredient in many commercial disinfectants and sanitizers used in hospital settings (13). This characteristic makes Bcc members some of the most challenging bacteria to eradicate, thereby increasing the risk of transmission to vulnerable patients. Two species in particular within the Bcc group make up an overwhelming majority of clinical isolates: Burkholderia multivorans and Burkholderia cenocepacia (12, 14). Current treatment protocols for managing Burkholderia infections typically include long term courses of multiple antibiotics, and treatment failure rates are high (15). Concern over these clinically challenging pathogens has led to an earnest interest in alternative treatment strategies, which include the therapeutic application of bacteriophages.

There are currently more than 30 known species of *Burkholderia*, about two thirds of which belong to the *Burkholderia* cepacia complex (Bcc) (16). The Bcc is made up of 22 phenotypically similar, but genotypically distinct species (Figure 1) (17). This grouping of species, particularly *B*.

multivorans and *B. cenocepacia*, are strongly associated with respiratory tract infections in individuals with compromised immune systems, particularly those with cystic fibrosis or chronic granulomatous disease (18). Once infections with Bcc bacteria gain a foothold, these pathogens are often associated with quick community spread and particularly aggressive infections in these patient populations (12).



Figure 1. Phylogenetic relationship of *Burkholderia* **bacteria species.** *Phylogenetic tree depicting the genetic relationship of Burkholderia spp. bacteria. Image is reproduced with permission from J. W. Sahl, et al., The effects of signal erosion and core genome reduction on the identification of diagnostic markers. MBio 7 (2016).*

1.2 Bacteriophage Biology

Bacteriophages (phages) are viruses that infect bacteria. As the most abundant biological entities on the planet, phages are readily available anywhere bacteria can be found (19). As the natural predators of bacteria, they enforce an important ecological balance on bacterial populations. Phages exhibit two primary lifestyle types in relation to their bacterial hosts, which are controlled by environmental and host conditions: the lytic and lysogenic cycles (12). In the lytic lifecycle, phages attach to their target bacteria, inject their genetic material into the host cell, hijack the cell's replication machinery to produce many more copies of themselves, and finally lyse and kill the cell, releasing many more copies of the original phage (20) (Figure 2). These progeny phages then go on to repeat this cycle in new host cells. In the lysogenic lifecycle, genes driving immediate phage replication are repressed, and instead of reprogramming the host cell into a phage factory, the phage genome instead integrates into the bacterial genome and is replicated along with the bacterial genes during normal replication (20) (Figure 2). This type of phage is referred to as a temperate phage, and the quiescent form of the bacteriophage genome, now residing in the bacterial genome, is known as a prophage (20). Prophages can remain in the bacterial genome indefinitely, but intact prophages can excise themselves from the bacterial genome and resume a lytic infection cycle. This switch can be spontaneous, or triggered by external stressors, including nutrient availability, changes in pH or temperature, exposure to antibiotics, or DNA damaging agents (21).



Figure 2. Illustration of the bacteriophage lytic and lysogenic life cycles. Graphic depiction of the two main lifestyle stratigies of bacteriophages in relation to their bacterial hosts. Larger circle depicts the lytic lifecycle and smaller circle depicts the lysogenic lifecyle. Image is reproduced with permission from A. Campbell, The future of bacteriophage biology. Nat. Rev. Genet. 4, 471–477 (2003).

1.3 Bacteriophage Therapy

Bacteriophage (phage) therapy is the strategic use of naturally occurring viruses that infect bacteria to treat infections. Although bacteriophage therapy has a rich history, reaching back as early as the late 19th century, it fell out of favor with the advent of broad-spectrum antibiotics in the 1940s (12). However, as bacterial resistance to existing antibiotics has rapidly increased and development of new antibiotic compounds has failed to keep pace, a renewed interest in bacteriophage therapy has emerged. Phage therapy has been undergoing a renaissance in western medicine since the 1990s (12). Compassionate use cases of phage-based therapy have risen dramatically in the last decade (22). Phages can be used to treat respiratory infections, infections of indwelling medical devices, UTI's, osteoarticular infections, gastrointestinal and endovascular infections, among other ailments (22). Numerous success cases have been reported, including landmark cases of life saving treatment for an abdominal abcess (23) and a lung infection of a patient with cystic fibrosis (24). Modern laboratory techniques, including rapid bacterial species identification and the increasing availability of whole genome sequencing, have added to our understanding of these bacteria-killing viruses, further increasing their potential for successful therapeutic use.

Phage therapy boasts several advantages over traditional antibiotics, including a lack of cytotoxicity, precise target specificity, advantageous pharmacokinetics, and limitless environmental availability (22). Additionally, since phage therapy utilizes an entirely different mode of action than chemical antibiotics, it is a potentially powerful tool against antibiotic-resistant pathogens and a valuable addition to mainstream treatment protocols (12). Since bacteriophages are generally specific to a particular species or even strain of host, they do not disrupt the commensal microbiome, and have been shown in many studies to lack significant side effects (25, 26). Since bacteriophages replicate in their target hosts at the site of infection, then dwindle as the target bacterial population decreases, phage therapy also has the advantage of being both a self-amplifying and self-limiting treatment. Finally, because bacteriophages are considered to be the most abundant biological entities on planet, phages represent a virtually limitless reservoir of potential antimicrobial tools. This is in stark contrast to the rapidly dwindling discovery of new antibiotic compounds, with only a handful of new antibiotics being approved in the last five years, and many of these having only limited clinical benefit (27).

1.4 Isolation of Bacteriophages for Clinical Use

With a clear and urgent need for new treatments against multidrug-resistant pathogens, bacteriophages present a resource with untapped therapeutic potential. Many researchers have focused their attention on isolating a sufficient diversity of bacteriophages to target pathogens of clinical interest. While bacteriophage treatment for infections caused by *Burkholderia* species would be advantageous, to date, only one compassionate use case of *Burkholderia*-targeting phages has been reported (28). However, studies investigating the use of phages against *Burkholderia* infection in *in-vivo* models have shown efficacy both in *Galleria mellonella* (greater waxworm) (29)(30) and murine (mouse) lung infection models (31)(32). Part of the limitation on compassionate clinical usage of these types of phages is that relatively few *Burkholderia*-targeting phages have been isolated (12). Before advantageous phage therapy can be employed for infections caused by Bcc bacteria, more phages that can target these pathogens need to be identified and characterized.

While bacteriophages targeting many species of human pathogenic bacteria have been readily isolated from environmental sources such as water and soil, *Burkholderia*-targeting phages discovered from these sources appears to be somewhat limited. One alternative source of novel bacteriophages is the bacterial genome itself (33)(34). Bacteriophages which have lysogenized their host and integrated into the bacterial genome, called prophages, can be induced to release themselves and then be propagated on an alternative bacterial isolate which the bacteriophage is able to infect and lyse. This alternative isolation technique could prove to be useful in finding new phages for targeting pathogens like *Burkholderia*.

A relatively large percentage (estimated 10%) of *Burkholderia* genomes exist as genomic islands, that is, part of a genome that shows evidence of origins from another organism. Many of

these genomic islands are potentially of prophage origin (2, 35, 36). The diversity of prophages present within the genomes of *Burkholderia* bacteria themselves may therefore represent a rich source of bacteriophages for potential therapeutic use. In this study, we investigated a technique for inducing the release of intact prophages from Bcc clinical isolates using the mutagen mytomycin C, and subsequently propagating phages that could lyse alternative strains of bacteria. We show that phages capable of lytic activity against conspecific and heterospecific bacteria can be isolated in this manner, and identified four novel Bcc-targeting phages with this approach. Additionally, we characterized the prophage content of thirty-five Bcc clinical isolates, and explored associations between species, prophage content, and phage susceptibility. Taken together, this project represents a step toward addressing the limited availability of *Burkholderia*targeting phages for therapeutic use, presents an alternative strategy for future phage discovery methods, and uncovers valuable insights about prophage carriage in Bcc bacteria.

2.0 Statement of Project and Specific Aims

The goal of this project was to investigate the viability of isolating bacteriophages of prophage origin from the genomes of bacteria within the *Burkholderia* genus, specifically within the *Burkholderia cepacia* complex, that show potential for therapeutic use. Therapeutic potential was defined as evidence of lytic activity against heterologous bacterial isolates. A second point of focus was to genomically characterize prophage diversity in a panel of *Burkholderia* clinical isolates. The following specific aims were proposed to accomplish these goals:

2.1 Aim 1

Isolate prophages from *Burkholderia* spp. clinical isolates that have lytic activity against conspecific and heterospecific isolates. Prophages are known to excise from the genomes of their host bacteria when growth stress or DNA damage is sensed. The DNA cross-linking Mitomycin C has been shown to be effective at inducing excision of prophages in bacterial cultures (33). I hypothesize that applying this method to a panel of clinical *Burkholderia* isolates will generate lysates containing bacteriophages of prophage origin. Screening these lysates against the same panel of *Burkholderia* isolates would allow us to isolate phages with lytic activity against alternative hosts.

2.2 Aim 2

Determine if isolated prophages can lyse *Burkholderia* spp. clinical isolates of the same or different species and test host range of these and other *Burkholderia*-targeting phages. Bacteriophages that can target multiple different species of the same bacterial genus are advantageous for therapeutic applications. To characterize the host range of bacteriophages isolated in Aim 1, I will perform an all-by-all host range plaque screening of each isolated phage and two previously isolated *Burkholderia*-targeting bacteriophages of environmental origin against the same panel of clinical *Burkholderia* isolates used in the induction of prophage release. I hypothesize that phages induced in Aim 1 will show lytic activity on alternate host isolates. Lytic phage activity and viral titers for each pairing will be recorded, and variability in host range between the different phages and host susceptibility between different species will be assessed.

2.3 Aim 3

Characterize prophage diversity among *Burkholderia* spp. clinical isolates and prophages isolated in Aim 1. *Burkholderia* are known to harbor a relatively large number of prophages within their genomes (35). In order to describe the genetic landscape of our host bacteria panel as it pertains to prophage carriage, I will analyze the genomes of the bacterial isolates used in this project as well as the prophages they encode (Aim3B). Phylogenetic relationships of all isolates will be determined by making a core genome phylogeny, and the genomic analysis tool PHASTER (37) will be used to identify regions of each genome that are likely to encode intact or partial prophages. Prophage sequences will be compared to one another using nucleotide BLAST,

and a cluster analysis of all prophage sequences will be performed using Cytoscape (38) (Aim3C). I hypothesize that many *Burkholderia* clinical isolates will contain prophages, and some prophages will be present in multiple isolates. Isolated bacteriophage genomes will also be sequenced to characterize them through comparisons with each other and with other phages deposited in the NCBI database (Aim3A).

3.0 Materials and Methods

3.1 Bacterial Isolates

All *Burkholderia* bacteria isolates used in this study were collected from patients at the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center (UPMC) as part of routine clinical care. Many of the isolates came from lung infections of patients with cystic fibrosis. Most isolates were collected as part of the Enhanced Detection System for Healthcare Associated Transmission (39), and others were collected from patients being evaluated for phage therapy. Isolate collection was approved by the University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board under protocols PRO07060222 and STUDY19110005.

3.2 Induction of Prophage Release

To induce prophage release, 10μ L of stationary phage liquid culture of each bacteria isolate was inoculated into 5mL of Luria Broth (LB) containing 2.5µg/mL mytomycin C (CAS: 50-07-7 Sigma M4287-2mg). Cultures were grown overnight shaking at 37°C. The next day, bacterial cells were pelleted, and liquid lysates were filtered through a .22µm syringe filter to remove bacteria. The remaining lysates were presumed to contain any prophages that were released due to growth under stress.

3.3 Isolation and Passaging of Bacteriophages

Lytic bacteriophage activity was identified with a soft agar overlay assay. Briefly, square bottom agar petri plates were prepared containing LB media with 1.5% agar, 1mM CaCl₂ and 1mM MgCl₂. Bacterial isolates were inoculated into LB media and incubated overnight at 37°C. The following day, bacterial soft agar lawns were created by mixing 50µL of liquid bacterial culture with 5mL of top agarose (LB media with 0.5% agarose, 1mM CaCl₂, and 1mM MgCl₂) cooled to 55°C, plated on top of bottom agar plates and allowed to solidify. After top agar bacterial lawns had solidified, 5µL of each potential bacteriophage-containing lysate prepared previously was spotted on top of the lawn. Plates were incubated upright at 37°C overnight. The next day, plates were examined for evidence of lytic bacteriophage activity in the form of plaques. Individual lytic (clear) plaques were "picked" with a pipette tip and transferred into 100µL of suspension media (SM) buffer (50mM TrisCl pH 7.5, 100mM NaCl, 8mM MgSO₄) and incubated overnight at 37°C. Areas of full clearance where individual plaques were not visible were noted and bacteriophage-mediated killing was tested by plating 10-fold serial dilutions of phage lysate to observe and pick individual plaques. To propagate and isolate individual phages, individual plaques were picked and prepared in 100µL of SM buffer as described above. Serial 10-fold dilutions were made in SM buffer, and 5µL of each dilution was spotted onto a plate containing 5mL of LB top agarose mixed with 50µL of bacterial culture of the propagating isolate and layered on top of a bottom agar plate. After overnight incubation at 37°C, an individual plaque was picked and passaged again. Each phage was passaged four times before the generation of high-titer stocks.

3.4 Preparation of High-Titer Phage Lysates

To prepare high-titer liquid lysates of each phage, individual plaques picked after four serial passages were transferred to 100µL of SM buffer and were then mixed with 100µL of overnight LB culture of the propagating bacterial isolate. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes, then mixed with 10mL of LB top agar and overlaid onto large (15 cm) bottom agar plates and allowed to set. Plates were incubated overnight at 37°C. Plates showing semi-confluent lysis were flooded with 10mL of SM buffer and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours. The SM lysate was then collected and centrifuged at 4,000g for 10 minutes to pellet bacteria. Supernatants were then filter sterilized through a 0.22µm membrane syringe filter.

3.5 DNA Extraction and Whole Genome Sequencing

Bacterial genomic DNA was extracted from 1mL overnight cultures grown in LB media using a Qiagen DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) following the manufacturer's protocol. Phage genomic DNA was extracted using phenol chloroform extraction from 500µL of concentrated phage lysate, followed by ethanol precipitation. Briefly, 500µL phenol:chloroform:isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) was added to 500µL of each lysate, samples were vortexed and then centrifuged at 16,000g for 1 minute. The upper aqueous phase was transferred to a new tube and 500µL of chloroform was added. Samples were vortexed and centrifuged again at 16,000g for 1 minute, and the upper aqueous phase was again transferred to a new tube. Then 1µL glycogen, 0.1x volume 3M sodium acetate, and 2.5x volume 100% ethanol were added and samples were incubated overnight at -20°C. The next day samples were centrifuged at 16,000g for 30 minutes at 4°C, then the supernatant was removed, and the DNA pellet was washed with 150μL 70% ethanol. DNA pellets were resuspended in 100μL nuclease-free water. All DNAs were quantified with a Qubit fluorimeter (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA). Bacterial and phage genomes were sequenced on the Illumina platform at the Microbial Genome Sequencing (MiGS) Center (Pittsburgh, PA). Illumina library construction and sequencing were conducted using an Illumina Nextera DNA Sample Prep Kit with 150bp paired-end reads, and libraries were sequenced on the NextSeq 550 sequencing platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA).

3.6 Genomic Analysis

Genomes were assembled with SPAdes v3.11 to generate contigs with a 200bp minimum length cut-off (40). Phage contigs were extracted from each assembly and separated from contaminating host bacterial sequences by examining the differential read coverage of each contig, and with BLASTN. Assembled genomes were annotated with RAST (41). A core genome phylogenetic tree of all bacterial isolate genomes was generated using RAxML with the GTRCAT substitution model and 1000 iterations (42). Bacterial species were assigned by average nucleotide identity (ANI) comparisons with previously sequenced *Burkholderia* species (43). Prophages were identified in each bacterial genome using PHASTER (37). Prophages of any length that were predicted to be intact or questionable by PHASTER were included. Prophage sequences were identified as those sharing >90% sequence coverage and >90% sequence identity. A cluster analysis of all prophage sequences was performed and visualized using Cytoscape (38). Presence of Clustered Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats (CRISPR)-Cas loci in each bacteria

isolate was analyzed using CRISPRCasFinder (44). Predicted family and genus of each bacteriophage was determined by closest BLAST match in the NCBI nr database.

3.7 Bacteriophage Host Range Screening

An all-by-all screen of each of 9 isolated bacteriophage against a panel of 35 *Burkholderia* isolates was performed using the soft agar overlay spot screening method described above. Briefly, 10-fold serial dilutions of each phage lysate were spotted in 5µL volumes onto top agar lawns of each bacteria and incubated at 37°C overnight. The following day, each phage-bacteria pairing was assessed for visibility of plaques. For pairings where lysis was noted, bacteriophage titer in plaque-forming units (p.f.u.)/mL was calculated.

3.8 EM Imaging

1-5ul of bacteriophage BCC02 suspension was added to a copper grid and negatively stained with 1% uranyl acetate. Phage suspension was imaged by transmission electron microscopy on a JEW 1400 Flash Transmission Electron Microscope. Imaging was performed by the University of Pittsburgh Center for Biologic Imaging.

3.9 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses for this study were performed in GraphPad Prism version 8.0.0, GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA, www.graphpad.com. Linear Regression and/or two-tailed t-tests were performed to assess significance of associations.

4.0 Results

4.1 AIM 1: Induction and Isolation of Burkholderia-targeting Phages

To collect and isolate prophages present within *Burkholderia* bacteria genomes, a library of potential prophage-containing lysates was created. To do this, we inoculated 32 Burkholderia clinical isolates in liquid culture with the mutagen mitomycin C (Figure 3). Mitomycin C induces growth stress in the dividing bacterial population via DNA damage, prompting intact prophages to shift back to a lytic life cycle and excise themselves from the host genome (45, 46). The panel of isolates included seven different species, but a majority of isolates belonged to the two most clinically relevant species within the Burkholderia cepacia complex: B. multivorans and B. cenocepacia. Following overnight culture, lysates were filter sterilized to create a screening library of 32 prophage-containing lysates. We then performed a screen which paired each lysate (32 phage-containing lysates) against each bacterial isolate (32 Burkholderia isolates), referred to as an "all-by-all" screen, using a spot-plaque screening method (Figure 3). In total, 1,024 pairwise combinations that were tested and scored for evidence of lytic phage activity yielded 11 positive pairings (about 1% hit rate). Each positive pairing was then taken through a secondary screening process to confirm that inhibitory activity was due to the presence of phage. Each lysate was plated in 10-fold serial dilution on the corresponding bacterial host in order to visualize individual plaques indicating phage activity. One pairing did not yield individual plaques, suggesting that the growth inhibition noted in the primary screen may have been due to something other than phage activity. This pairing was dropped from further study. The remaining ten host-lysate pairings were carried on to serial passaging steps to isolate individual phages. Three candidate pairings did not maintain lytic activity through serial passage, but 7 host-lysate pairs yielded viable isolates bacteriophages, which were made into high-titer lysates and designated as BCC02 through BCC08 (Table 1).



Figure 3. Illustration of prophage release induction methods. Graphical representation of culture and screening methods used to induce release of prophages from bacterial genome. Full description in methods.

4.2 AIM 2: Host Range Screen

To determine the infectivity profile of each isolated phage as well as the phage susceptibility of each *Burkholderia* spp. isolate, we performed an all-by-all lytic activity screen. For this screen, two additional *Burkholderia*-targeting bacteriophages already present in the lab's collection, BCh7 and DSMZ107315, were added to the screening panel for comparison purposes. Both phages were isolated from environmental sources. Three additional *Burkholderia* clinical

isolates, which had been recently collected from patients being evaluated for phage therapy, were also added, bringing our host-range screening panel to a total of 35 bacteria isolates versus 9 bacteriophage lysates (Figure 4). Ten-fold serial dilutions of each phage were spotted onto top agar lawns of each bacterial isolate. Titers were calculated for each pairing that showed lytic activity by counting of individual plaques. Screening results revealed a variation in phage host-ranges, with phages able to lyse between 2 (BCC06) and 12 (BCC02) out of 35 isolates. All phages were able to infect and lyse multiple isolates, and in most cases, phages were able to lyse bacteria belonging to multiple different species (Figure 4). We observed similar host-ranges for two groups of phages: [BCC02, BCC03, and BCC04] and [BCC05 and BCC06]. This finding, along with the fact that these groups contained phages that were each derived from the same "donor" bacterial isolate (Table 1), suggested that these might be duplicate isolations of the same phage. Small differences in host range within each group of phages could be attributed to differences in titer of the lysate stocks. Notably, with the exception of BCC05 and BCC06, lytic host-range of bacteriophages of prophage origin were comparable to those of environmental origin, both within our study (comparing BCC02-BCC08 with BCh7 and DSMZ107315) and in the literature (16, 47). Eight Burkholderia isolates were resistant to all phages tested. However, the other 27 isolates (77.14% of all isolates tested) were susceptible to at least one phage.



Figure 4 Infectivity of isolated phages against generically diverse clinical *Burkholderia* spp. isolates. Bacteria isolates are ordered according to core genome phylogeny and broken into groupings by species. Infectivity is shown as the log10 titer (PFU/mL) of each phage against each isolate. Bolded values indicate the *Burkholderia* isolate that each phage was isolated and propagated on. Green shading corresponds to phage activity titer, with darker shading indicating a higher titer. Empty cells indicate no phage activity. Asterisks mark donor bacteria isolates for isolated phages of prophage origin

Phage ID	Donor	Donor Species	Propagation Host	Host Species
BCC02	DVT1180	B. multivorans	DVT 1139	B. cenocepacia
BCC03	DVT1180	B. multivorans	DVT 614	B. cenocepacia
BCC04	DVT1180	B. multivorans	DVT 1165	B. cenocepacia
BCC05	DVT1166	B. multivorans	DVT 599	B. cenocepacia
BCC06	DVT1166	B. multivorans	DVT1154	B. cenocepacia
BCC07	DVT1155	B. seminalis	DVT 614	B. cenocepacia
BCC08	DVT1155	B. seminalis	DVT 790	B. cenocepacia

Table 1. Summary of extracted Burkholderia proprophages showing lytic activity

4.3 AIM 3 (A): Genomic Characterization of Isolated Phages

To explore the genetic diversity of phages isolated in this study, phage genomes were sequenced on the Illumina platform and were compared to publicly available genomes in the NCBI nr database. The genome of BCC08 appeared to be only a partial genome, however the remaining eight genomes appeared to be fully resolved. Phage genomes ranged in size from approximately 22-68 kb (Table 2). Based on direct sequence comparisons via sequence alignment, BCC02, BCC03 and BCC04 were shown to be genetically identical. BCC02 was chosen as a representative of this phage for susceptibility calculations. Likewise, BCC05 and BCC06 were found to be identical except for a single nucleotide difference within a gene that was identified via BLAST analysis as coding for a tail fiber protein. However, as we saw no significant differences in host range between the two lysates, for the purposes of our analysis we also considered these two phages to be identical and chose BCC05 as a representative of this phage. The family and genus

of each phage were predicted based on sequence comparisons with previously described phages deposited in NCBI using nucleotide BLAST (Table 2). All phages were predicted to belong to the order Caudovirales and family Myoviridae. These phages are known to have contractile tails and icosahedral heads. Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) imaging of phage BCC02 confirmed this phenotype visually (Figure 5). Phage BCC02, which had the broadest host range in this study, was most similar to bacteriophage KS5, which Seed et al. also noted to have the broadest host range in their screening experiments (18). Overall, genomic analyses revealed that our study yielded 4 novel *Burkholderia*-targeting bacteriophages (BCC02, BCC05, BCC07, and BCC08) that were distinct from other bacteriophages whose genomes have been deposited into GenBank to date.

Phage ID	Donor/Source	Donor species	Genome Size (bp)	%GC	Predicted Family	Predicted Genus	NCBI Similar Phage	% Identity
BCC 02 /03/04	DVT 1180	B. multivorans	26,947	67.04	Myoviridae	Peduovirinae; Kisquinquevirus	Burkholderia Phage KS5 (GU911303.1)	98.35
BCC 05/ 06	DVT 1166	B. multivorans	28,659	67.09	Myoviridae	Peduovirinae; Tigrvirus	Burkholderia Phage phiE12-2 (NC_009236.1)	83.05
BCC07	DVT 1155	B. seminalis	38,077	66.66	Myoviridae	Peduovirinae; Kisquinquevirus	Burkholderia Phage Mana (NC_055863.1)	94.89
BCC08 (partial)	DVT 1155	B. seminalis	12,322	66.27	Myoviridae	Peduovirinae; Tigrvirus	Burkholderia Phage KL3 (GU911304.1)	96.31
BCh7	N/A	N/A	68,166	54.7	Myoviridae	Bcepfunavirus;	Burkholderia Phage Maja (MT708549.1)	73.73
DSMZ107315	N/A	N/A	22,967	61.5	Myoviridae	Peduovirinae; Kisquattuordecimvirus	Burkholderia Phage FLC5 (NC_055722.1)	89.07

Table 2. Summary of unique isolated Burkholderia-targeting bacteriophages



Figure 5. Electron micrograph of bacteriophage BCC02. Transmission electron micrograph showing phage morphology of *Burkholderia* phage BCC02. Image taken at 200,000-fold magnification. Icosahedral head, tail, and contractile tail sheath are visible for 6 virions

4.4 AIM 3 (B): Genomic Characterization of Bacteria and their Prophages

To understand the genetic diversity of the *Burkholderia* clinical isolates we studied, we constructed a core genome phylogeny of all 35 bacteria isolates using RAxML (42), and compared each genome to previously sequenced *Burkholderia* genomes with fastANI. A total of 16 isolates belonged to *B. multivorans*, 14 belonged to *B. cenocepacia*, and one each belonged to *B. cepacia*, *B. seminalis*, *B. vietnamiensis*, *B. pseudomultivorans*, and *B. gladioli*. All isolates except DVT1600 (B. gladioli) fall into the infamous *Burkholderia cepacia* complex grouping. We next

assessed the abundance and diversity of prophage sequences within the 35 *Burkholderia* spp. clinical isolates we used for screening. We searched each isolate genome for sequences of likely prophage origin using the online tool PHASTER (37). A total of 59 prophage sequences (Supplemental Table 1) were extracted, and between 0 and 4 prophages were found within the genomes of each isolate (Figure 6A). We then tested whether prophage abundance was associated with phage susceptibility by counting the number of phages that each bacterial isolate was susceptible to. Susceptibility to BCC02/03/04 and BCC05/06 were each only counted once. We found that prophage abundance was not significantly associated with phage susceptibility (linear regression P-value = 0.42) (Figure 6B).



Figure 6(A). Number of prophages and bacteriophage susceptibility of diverse panel of *Burkholderia* spp. Isolates. Core genome phylogeny of 35 clinical *Burkholderia* spp. isolates used for phage isolation. Isolate genomes were mined for prophage abundance using PHASTER and all isolates were screened for susceptibility to 6 genetically distinct phages (BCC02/03/04, BCC05/06, BCC07, BCC08, BCh7, DSMZ107315).

26


Figure 6(B). Number of prophages and bacteriophage susceptibility of diverse panel of *Burkholderia* spp. Isolates. Linear regression showing no association between susceptibility to phage lysis versus number of prophages. P-value determined by t-test.

We compared the sequences of the phages we isolated to their prophage sources by mapping the sequence of each phage to prophage sequences identified in each donor bacterial isolate genome (DVT1155, DVT1166, and DVT1180). We also identified mutations present in the isolated phages compared to their prophage "ancestors." All isolated phage genomes matched to the original prophage sequences found in the donor bacterial genomes with no more than one nucleotide difference. This finding shows that our approach successfully isolated prophages with lytic activity and confirms that prophages within the genome of one bacterial isolate can lyse other genetically distinct bacteria.

To determine whether any of the prophages encoded by our *Burkholderia* isolate genomes were similar to one another, we compared all extracted prophage sequences to one another using nucleotide BLAST (48). We assessed both nucleotide coverage and identity across all pairwise comparisons. Prophages that shared >90% sequence coverage and >90% sequence identity were considered as similar to one another, and clusters of similar prophages were visualized using Cytoscape (38) (Figure 7). Twelve clusters of similar prophages were identified, which ranged in size from 2-4 isolates. Overall, prophages clustered within closely related isolates and within the species (Figure 7B). Our screening panel contained two sets of isolates that were gathered at different time points from the same patient: DVT1140, DVT1171, DVT1172, and DVT1181 (B. multivorans) were collected from one patient, and DVT599 and DVT1154 (B. cenocepacia) were collected from another patient. The prophages present in these isolates were shown to cluster together, as expected (Figure 7). Isolated phages BCC02, BCC05, BCC07 and BCC08 did not fall into any of these clusters, confirming that they were present in only a single isolate. Finally, one cluster (Cluster 1) was associated with host resistance to lysis by other phages. All four isolates containing a prophage in this cluster were resistant to killing by any of the isolated phages (Figure 4). This finding suggests that this particular prophage may provide protection to phage-mediated lysis in *B. multivorans*.







Figure 7(B). Clusters of prophages found in the genomes of *Burkholderia* spp. Isolates. Core genome phylogeny of 35 clinical *Burkholderia* spp. isolates used for phage isolation showing total number of prophages identified in each isolate and appearance of clustered prophages as shown in A. Asterisks indicate isolates from the same patient.

4.5 AIM 3 (C): Association Between Prophages and Phage Susceptibility

Prior studies have shown that endogenous prophages can provide protection against phagemediated killing by other similar phages (49)(50). To assess a possible relationship between the number of prophage sequences present in each bacterial isolate genome and susceptibility to phage lysis, we quantified the number of prophages in isolates that were susceptible or not susceptible to each individual phage tested (Figure 8A). We found no significant differences except in the case of phage BCh7, where isolates having a greater number of prophages were more likely to be susceptible to lytic phage killing. We also assessed differences in overall prophage carriage and phage susceptibility between the two major species in our dataset: *B. multivorans* and *B. cenocepacia* (Figure 8B). While there was no overall difference in the number of prophages present in each of these species, we did find that the *B. cenocepacia* isolates in our dataset were significantly more susceptible to phage lysis compared to *B. multivorans* isolates (P=0.001) (Figure 8B).



Figure 8. Relationship of prophage abundance and phage susceptibility (A) Prophage abundance in isolates that were and were not susceptible to each unique bacteriophage. (B) Prophage carriage and phage susceptibility by species for two major species in the dataset: *B. multivorans* and *B. cenocepacia*. P-values determined by two-tailed

t-test.

5.0 Discussion

The establishment and maintenance of lysogeny in bacterial hosts by temperate phages is a widespread phenomenon that involves a complex interplay of elements both on a cellular and ecological level. These interactions are influenced by many factors, including genetics, cellular development, community dynamics, and environmental conditions (21). In this study, we show that in some cases, the relationship between bacteria and their prophages can be exploited to isolate, characterize, and bank bacteriophages for potential therapeutic use, and that induction with Mitomycin C is an effective method to accomplish this in *Burkholderia* isolates.

The six phages we studied showed a combined host range encompassing more than 75% of the patient isolates that were tested. The isolated prophage BCC02 in particular had a relatively broad host range, with the ability to lyse 34% of the clinical isolates used in our study. This phage is genetically similar to previously described *Burkholderia* phage KS5 isolated by Seed et al, which also demonstrated broad lytic activity (18). The four novel phages isolated and described in this study have potential for further development toward therapeutic application. Exploration of the use of temperate bacteriophages in phage therapy will considerably expand the pool of useful tools against the escalating threat of multi-drug resistant bacteria. Several strategies for their use have already been identified (51). Additionally, identification of phages with varying host ranges and infection dynamics allows for the treatment of infections with multi-phage cocktails in order to reduce the probability of development of phage resistance (22). Phages can also be administered concurrently with traditional antibiotics. While we did not test for synergy with antibiotics in this study, this beneficial relationship has been noted in multiple studies (52)(53)(54). Therapeutic

deployment of phages may be able to shift the bacterial population toward one that is re-sensitized to antibiotics and/or less virulent (12).

Triggering the bacterial DNA damage response using a mutagen like mitomycin C is a simple way to activate the lysogenic-lytic switch in some isolates, and induced phages did, in fact, show a range of lytic activity against conspecific and heterospecific bacterial isolates. Polylysogeny in *Burkholderia* species appears to be common (36), and the prophages present in *Burkholderia* genomes represent a rich hunting ground for clinically useful bacteriophages. However, further characterization and purposeful engineering of temperate phages would likely be required before they could be used clinically. It is known that lysogenic conversion and transduction of virally encoded genes can be an important driver of bacterial virulence (55) (51), and necessary caution should be taken before introducing potentially lysogenic phages into an environment where mixed infections are frequent and bacterial populations can reach high densities, such as the CF airway. However, successful conversion of temperate phages to obligately lytic mutants has been shown (56), (24). This would be a logical future direction to explore for this project.

Our findings demonstrate that clinically significant *Burkholderia* isolates are host to a variety of prophage elements, in agreement with previous studies showing that lysogeny is relatively common in this genus (2), (47), (16). We found that a higher overall abundance of prophages did not correlate with phage susceptibility in our dataset. Our study also found greater phage resistance overall in *B. multivorans* isolates than *B. cenocepacia* isolates. At least one other study has noted the relative phage resistance of *B. multivorans* isolates (47). The presence of the Cluster 1 prophage was associated with complete resistance to phage lysis in 4 *B. multivorans* isolates carrying this prophage, which may indicate some evolutionary or ecological relevance,

possibly enabling a form of superinfection immunity. The occurrence of this prophage could indicate ancestral integration maintained through a fitness advantage, or direct phage transmission between hospital-associated strains in close contact. However, the nature of these types of interactions is highly complex and resolving the details of the effects of this prophage on the infection dynamics of other phages would require further study.

The prophage isolation method that we employed here could be further refined and expanded to identify and characterize more phages that target Bcc bacteria. Currently, very little is known about the entry receptors used by *Burkholderia*-targeting bacteriophages (12). In future work, we plan to focus on identification of potential entry receptors and genes responsible for lysogeny, in order to gain a better understanding of infection dynamics. We would also like to test the activity of these novel phages against a larger and more diverse panel of *Burkholderia* isolates.

This study had several limitations. The small volume spot-screening method used to isolate induced phages likely missed phages that were present in lysates at low concentration. Additionally, slow-growing clinical isolates may have led to lower indication of lytic activity, since some temperate phages are known to employ the lytic lifestyle only when the density of available hosts is high (21). In our genomic characterization, only a partial genome of phage BCC08 was able to be resolved and all genomes used for our analysis were draft genomes that were not able to be fully closed within the scope of this project. This could potentially skew our analysis of the number of prophages in each isolate, as some prophages may have spanned multiple contigs. Finally, all work in this study was performed *in-vitro*, thus we are not able to conclude that these newly characterized phages would be useful for clinical therapy without further testing in a relevant *in-vivo* model of infection.

In this project, we isolated 4 novel bacteriophages with lytic activity against a variety of Bcc isolates. A recent review by Lauman and Dennis notes that as of 2021, only 34 Bcc-targeting bacteriophages have been described in the literature (12), highlighting the significant contribution of the findings of this study. The data generated in this study represents a valuable addition to the literature characterizing *Burkholderia*-targeting bacteriophages, as well as prophage abundance and diversity in clinically relevant *Burkholderia* species. Isolated phages of prophage origin may prove to have clinical use, and a greater understanding of prophage biology will further the utility of bacteriophage therapy in general.

Appendix A

Prophage ID Host Isolate Host Species Length (bp) % GC Cluster Most Common Phage (II genes that match) DVT 1139 DVT 1140 B. multivorans 39.836 63.8 2 PHAGE Burkho X13 NC 015266(21) DVT 1140 prophage 1 DVT 1140 B. multivorans 32.831 65.22 3 PHAGE Burkho X51 NC 015265(37) DVT 1140 B. multivorans 32.831 66.32 - PHAGE Burkho X51 NC 015265(37) DVT 1152 DVT 1152 B. cepocia 36.096 63.3 - PHAGE Eurkho X51 NC 015265(37) DVT 1153 prophage 1 DVT 1153 B. multivorans 47.706 63.3 - PHAGE Eurkho X41 NC 02869(21) DVT 1154 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29.99 68.1 5 PHAGE Eurkho X41 NC 01526(51) DVT 1155 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29.99 68.1 - PHAGE Eurkho X41 NC 01526(53) DVT 1155 DVT 1155 B. seminolis 37.816 61.8 - PHAGE Eurkho X51 NC 015265(37) DVT 1155 DVT 115
DVT 1140 DVT 1140 B. multivorans 39,836 6.3.8 2 PHAGE Burkho N2,010, 011216(3) DVT 1140 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE Burkho KS5, NC, 015265(37) DVT 1140 DVT 1152 B. cepocia 36,096 63.3 - PHAGE Burkho KS5, NC, 015265(37) DVT 1153 DVT 1152 B. cepocia 36,096 63.3 - PHAGE Burkho KS5, NC, 015265(37) DVT 1153 program B. cepocia 02,199 68.1 S. PHAGE Burkho KS5, NC, 015265(37) DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 S. PHAGE Burkho XA1, NC, 02869[21) DVT 1154 Drogram A. 63.6 - PHAGE Burkho XA1, NC, 02869[20) DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 - PHAGE Burkho XA1, NC, 02869[20) DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 - PHAGE Burkho XA1, NC, 02266[37) DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,806 61.5 - PHAGE Burkho XA1, NC, 02266[37) DVT 1155 B. semi
DVT 1140 prophage 3 DVT 1140 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE Burkho KSS NC 015265(37) DVT 1152 prophage 1 DVT 1153 B. cepocia 36,096 63.3 - PHAGE Burkho KSS NC 015265(37) DVT 1153 prophage 1 DVT 1153 B. multivorans 44,7703 62.2 8 PHAGE Burkho KSS NC 015265(37) DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE Burkho KLS NC 02869(21) DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,434 65 10 PHAGE Burkho KL3 NC 025266(39) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,102 65.2 - PHAGE Burkho KL3 NC 04752(27) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,106 61.8 - PHAGE Burkho KL3 NC 04752(27) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 41,206 61.8 - PHAGE Burkho
DVT 1140 provide String String String<
DVT Els Capacia 36,096 6.3.3 PHAGE Maniely BL DVT 1152 B. multivorans 47,703 62.2 8 PHAGE Science Science Coll 32,023 Coll 32,033
DVT E. Cepacia 36,096 6.3.3 - PHAGE Manihe Minkage NC 028766(1) DVT 1153 prophage DVT 1153 B. multivorans 34,871 62.2 8 PHAGE Escher vB. EcoM. ECO078 NC. 041926(8) DVT 1154 prophage DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE Salmon Science 2026(2) DVT 1154 prophage DVT 1155 B. seminalis 44,391 62.8 - PHAGE Burkho, K13.NC. 02869(2) DVT 1155 DVT 1155 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 26,712 65.2 - PHAGE Burkho, ST3.PK, C. 0208(17) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. seminalis 26,712 65.5 - PHAGE Burkho, ST3.PK, C. 02084(7) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. uternamensis 41,263 61.5 - PHAGE Burkho, ST3.PK, C. 02586(13) DVT 1157 DVT 1157 DVT 1157 DVT 1157 B. amultivorans 38,405 62.3<
DVT 1153 prophage 1 DVT 1153 B. multivorans 34,871 62.2 PHAGE_Escher_w_EcoM_ECOO78.NC_041926(8) DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE_Escher_w_EcoM_ECOO78.NC_041926(8) DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE_Stanno_SEN34_NC_028699(20) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 PHAGE_Burkho K13_NC_01256(39) DVT 1155 prophage 2 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 PHAGE_Burkho K13_NC_01256(31) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,166 61.8 PHAGE_Burkho K13_NC_021343(46) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. vettramensis 47,046 65.5 PHAGE_Burkho R5TP_0_NC_007387(24) DVT 1161 B. emultivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Surkho K55_NC_01526(35) DVT 1163 prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 34,006 63.3 PHAGE_Burkho K55_NC_01526(35)
DVT 1153 prophage 2 DVT 1154 <i>B. cencepacia</i> 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE Salmon SEN34, NC 028699(21) DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 <i>B. cencepacia</i> 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE Salmon SEN34, NC 02869(20) DVT 1155 prophage 2 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 44,931 62.8 - PHAGE Salmon SEN34, NC 02869(20) DVT 1155 prophage 2 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 26,712 65.2 - PHAGE Burkho AP3 NC 04752(27) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. seminalis</i> 37,166 61.8 - PHAGE Burkho AP3 NC 04752(27) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. seminalis</i> 41,763 61.5 - PHAGE Burkho Rep176_NC 007497(24) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. seminalis</i> 34,766 63.3 PHAGE Burkho Rep176_NC 007497(24) DVT 1159 prophage 1 DVT 1163 <i>B. cencepacia</i> 4,021 65 - PHAGE Surkho Rep176_NC 007497(24) DVT 1161 prophage 1 DVT 1165
DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1154 B. cenocepacia 29,199 68.1 5 PHAGE Burkho phiE202 NC 009234(24) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 44,4391 65 10 PHAGE Salmod FLAGE NC 009234(24) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 PHAGE Burkho RL3 NC 03256(39) DVT 1155 prophage 3 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 PHAGE Burkho RL3 NC 037526(37) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,166 61.8 PHAGE Burkho RL9 NC 047752(7) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 47,066 65.5 PHAGE Burkho RecpC68 NC 005887(37) DVT 1151 prophage 1 DVT 1153 B. vietnamensis 41,263 61.5 PHAGE Salmon SEN34 NC 022669(14) DVT 1165 prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 PHAGE Burkho RespNu NC 002882(46) DVT 1165 prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 PHAGE Burkho RS10 NC 011216(43) DVT 1165 prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 40,032
DVT 1154 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 44,331 65 10 PHAGE_Rhodof_P26218_NC_029061(7) DVT 1155 prophage 1 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 - PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_02566(3) DVT 1155 prophage 2 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 - PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_015266(3) DVT 1155 prophage 3 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 47,046 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_ST_0_NC_027497(24) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1159 B. vietnamensis 47,046 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_Bcep176_NC_007497(24) DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1158 B. vietnamensis 47,026 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_Bcep176_NC_007497(24) DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Starko_C_003085(7) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 34,706 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_003286(21) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1166 B. cenocepacia 40,032
DVT 1155_prophage 1 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 37,802 63.6 PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_029061(7) DVT 1155_prophage 2 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 37,802 63.6 PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_012266(3) DVT 1155_prophage 6 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 37,166 61.8 PHAGE_Burkho_RP3_NC_047752(27) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. vetnamensis</i> 47,046 65.5 PHAGE_Burkho_Bcep160_NC_002897(24) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. vetnamensis</i> 41,263 61.5 PHAGE_Burkho_Bcep160_NC_002897(24) DVT 1161_prophage 1 DVT 1161 <i>B. multivorans</i> 37,88 63.4 1 PHAGE_Surkho_Bcep176_NC_002897(24) DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_02869(24) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 40,022 63.5 - PHAGE_Mixho Bcep176_NC_00286(7) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 <i>B. multivorans</i> 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC
DVT 1155 prophage 2 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,802 63.6 - PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_015266(39) DVT 1155_prophage 6 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,166 61.8 - PHAGE_Burkho_K13_NC_01526(37) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. wietnamensis 47,046 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_R57_p_NC_02134(46) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. wietnamensis 41,263 61.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_R55_NC_007497(24) DVT 1159_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 34,766 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_K55_NC_015266(35) DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 34,766 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepNu_NC_003882(46) DVT 1165_prophage 2 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_K10_NC_003882(46) DVT 1166_prophage 1 DVT 1166 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_K10_NC_00284(31) DVT 1166_prophage 1 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_K51_NC_01226(31)<
DVT 1155 <i>prophage</i> 3 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 26,712 65.2 - PHAGE Burkho_AP3_NC_047752(27) DVT 1155_prophage 6 DVT 1155 <i>B. seminalis</i> 37,166 61.8 - PHAGE Burkho_STP9_NC_021343(46) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. vietnamensis</i> 41,63 61.5 - PHAGE Burkho_Bcept76_NC_007897(24) DVT 1151_prophage 1 DVT 1158 <i>B. multivorans</i> 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE Burkho_Bcept76_NC_007497(24) DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1161 <i>B. multivorans</i> 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE Burkho_Bcept0_NC_007497(24) DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 44,021 65 9 PHAGE Salthow Bcept0_NC_005882(46) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE Burkho_KS1_N_C_01226(4) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.3 - PHAGE Burkho_NS0_N_C_01226(3) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.3 - PHAGE Surkho_KS1_N_C_01286(3) DVT 1166 <i>B. multivorans</i>
DVT 1155 prophage 6 DVT 1155 B. seminalis 37,166 61.8 PHAGE Burkho_ST79_NC_021343(46) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 47,046 65.5 PHAGE Burkho_BCeptC6B_NC_007497(24) DVT 1157_prophage 1 DVT 1159 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE Burkho_BCept76_NC_007497(24) DVT 1161_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 34,005 62.3 8 PHAGE_Escher_VB_EcoM_ECO1230_10_NC_028899(14) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 34,026 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BCeptNu_NC_005882(46) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_RS10_NC_00388(7) DVT 1166_prophage 2 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 229,994 63 - PHAGE_Burkho_RS10_NC_0128(53) DVT 1167 B. multivorans 23,831 65.2 PHAGE_Burkho_RS10_NC_01226(53) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_RS10_NC_01226(53) <t< td=""></t<>
DVT 1157 prophage 1 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 47,046 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepC6B_NC_005887(37) DVT 1157_prophage 2 DVT 1157 B. vietnamensis 41,263 61.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_BS.CO.052867(37) DVT 1159_prophage 1 DVT 1151 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS.S.CO.05265(35) DVT 1161 B. multivorans 38,405 62.3 8 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 34,705 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu.NC 005882(46) DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu.NC 005882(46) DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu.NC 005882(46) DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu.NC 005882(46) DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.2 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu.NC 051526(31) DVT 1167 B. multivorans 23,230 62.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_K55.0 C021
DVT 1157 prophage 2 DVT 1157 <i>B. vietnamensis</i> 41,263 61.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_Bcep176_NC_007497(24) DVT 1159 prophage 1 DVT 1157 <i>B. multivorons</i> 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KSS_NC_015265(35) DVT 1161 <i>B. multivorons</i> 38,405 62.3 8 PHAGE_Burkho_KSS_NC_015265(35) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 34,706 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_Ecore VB_ECOM_003882(46) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_ESI3_N_C_003085(7) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_ESI3_N_C_003085(7) DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_ESI3_N_C_003085(7) DVT 1166 <i>B. multivorons</i> 23,201 62.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_ESIS_N_C_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1170 <i>B. multivorons</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KSIS_N_C_015265(37) DVT 1171 <i>B. multivorons</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_
DVT 1159 prophage 1 DVT 1159 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1161 prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. multivorans 38,405 62.3 8 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_EC01230_10_NC_027995(DVT 1165 prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 34,706 63.3 - PHAGE_Salmo_SENA_AC_02869(14) DVT 1165 prophage 2 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_Sco_MX8_NC_003085(7) DVT 1165 prophage 2 DVT 1166 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_NC 011216(43) DVT 1166 prophage 1 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_PhiE12_NC_009236(31) DVT 1167 prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 42,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171 prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,331 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1171 prophage 2 DVT
DVT 1161_prophage 1 DVT 1161 <i>B. multivorans</i> 38,405 62.3 8 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECO1230_10_NC_027995(DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1165_prophage 2 DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_0128682(46) DVT 1165_prophage 2 DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_012869(23) DVT 1166_prophage 2 DVT 1166 <i>B. multivorans</i> 22,934 63 - PHAGE_Burkho_phiE12_2_NC_009236(31) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1177 <i>B. multivorans</i> 62,320 62.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 <i>B. multivorans</i> 32,331 63.2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 <i>B. multivorans</i> 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 <i>B. multivorans</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35)
DVT 1163_prophage 1 DVT 1163 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_salmon_SEN34_NC_02869(14) DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 34,706 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepNu_NC_005882(46) DVT 1165_prophage 3 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1166_prophage 2 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_012869(23) DVT 1166_prophage 4 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 62,320 62.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_012869(3) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 41,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_01266(3) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 3 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_01126(43) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_01265(37)
DVT 1165_prophage 1 DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 34,706 63.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_BcepMu_NC_005882(46) DVT 1165_prophage 2 DVT 1165 <i>B. cenocepacia</i> 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_01212(643) DVT 1166_prophage 3 DVT 1166 <i>B. multivorans</i> 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_01212(643) DVT 1166_prophage 4 DVT 1166 <i>B. multivorans</i> 29,994 63 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_028699(23) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1167 <i>B. multivorans</i> 40,303 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 <i>B. multivorans</i> 31,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 <i>B. multivorans</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 3 DVT 1171 <i>B. multivorans</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_012265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 <i>B. multivorans</i> 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_0
DVT 1165_prophage 2 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 30,623 65.5 - PHAGE_Myxoco_MX8_NC_003085(7) DVT 1165_prophage 3 DVT 1166 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1166_prophage 4 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_00236(31) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1167 B. multivorans 62,320 62.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 32,970 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38)
DVT 1165 prophage 3 DVT 1165 B. cenocepacia 40,032 63.5 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1166_prophage 2 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1166_prophage 4 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 29,994 63 - PHAGE_Burkho_phiE12_2_NC_009236(31) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 41,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.4 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_012265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 32,790 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_01
DVT 1166 prophage 2 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 23,631 65.3 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(23) DVT 1166_prophage 4 DVT 1166 B. multivorans 29,994 63 PHAGE_Burkho_phiE12_2_NC_009236(31) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 62,320 62.7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 34,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(7) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Enter_v8_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(7) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 32,970 65.2 4 PHAGE_Enter_v8_EcoM_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(7)
DVT 1166 B. multivorans 29,994 63 PHAGE_Burkho_phiE12_2_NC_009236(31) DVT 1167_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 62,320 62.7 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(9) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 34,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,970 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) D
DVT 1167 B. multivorans 62,320 62.7 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(9) DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 41,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 3 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,370 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1
DVT 1170_prophage 1 DVT 1170 B. multivorans 41,030 64.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NO_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NO_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,089 62.4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,331 63.1 11 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_p
DVT 1171_prophage 1 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1171_prophage 3 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 32,370 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Escher_VB_ECOM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(2
DVT 1171_prophage 2 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECO1230_10_NC_027995(DVT 1171_prophage 3 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_0121216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_01266(37) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 32,370 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 63.1 11 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC
DVT 1171_prophage 3 DVT 1171 B. multivorans 33,430 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 17,089 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Entero_StV_NC_003444(4) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_013055(14)
DVT 1172_prophage 1 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,370 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 17,089 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1173_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14)<
DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,970 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 17,089 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_01
DVT 1172_prophage 2 DVT 1172 B. multivorans 32,970 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(38) DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 17,089 62.4 - PHAGE_Entero_SfV_NC_003444(4) DVT 1173_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Entero_SfV_NC_003444(4) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35)
DVT 1173_prophage 1 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 17,089 62.4 - PHAGE_Entero_SfV_NC_003444(4) DVT 1173_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(24) DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT
DVT 1173_prophage 2 DVT 1173 B. multivorans 37,187 63.3 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 8,307 63.1 11 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_0201506(5)
DVT 1174_prophage 1 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 40,429 62.4 - PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(9) DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 8,307 63.1 11 PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14) DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_02869(
DVT 1174_prophage 2 DVT 1174 B. cenocepacia 16,336 62.1 6 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 8,307 63.1 11 PHAGE_Entero_fiAA91_ss_NC_022750(2) DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14) DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.4 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_021805(5) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) <
DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 8,307 63.1 11 PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14) DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1178_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_021806(5) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Seudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT 1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43)
DVT 1175_prophage 2 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 16,371 62.3 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(21) DVT 1175_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1178_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Seudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT 1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Sulmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43)
DVT 1175_prophage 3 DVT 1175 B. cenocepacia 18,522 62.4 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14) DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1178_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Pseudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT 1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS1_NC_001212(6(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7)
DVT 1177_prophage 1 DVT 1177 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1178_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Sealmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Surkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,399 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_01526
DVT 1178_prophage 1 DVT 1178 B. multivorans 39,737 64 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35) DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Pseudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Ssalmon_SEN34_NC_031058(5) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1179_prophage 1 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 44,021 65 9 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(14) DVT 1179_prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 - PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Ssalmon_SEN34_NC_031058(5) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1179 prophage 2 DVT 1179 B. cenocepacia 7,338 59.8 PHAGE_Stx2_c_1717_NC_011357(3) DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 PHAGE_Pseudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1180_prophage 3 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 34,935 64.2 - PHAGE_Pseudo_NP1_NC_031058(5) DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 - PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT1180_prophage 6 DVT 1180 B. multivorans 36,515 60.7 PHAGE_Salmon_118970_sal3_NC_031940(7) DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_NC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECO078_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1181_prophage 1 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 39,836 63.8 2 PHAGE_Burkho_KS10_KC_011216(43) DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_vB_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1181_prophage 2 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,331 62.2 3 PHAGE_Escher_v8_EcoM_ECOO78_NC_041926(7) DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1181_prophage 3 DVT 1181 B. multivorans 32,989 65.2 4 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(37)
DVT 1600_prophage 1 DVT 1600 B. gladiolii 38,172 61.2 - PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(22) DVT 1600_prophage 2 DVT 1600 B. aladiolii 34,696 61.3 - PHAGE_Sphing Lacusarx NC 041927(4)
DVT 1608_prophage 1 DVT 1608 B. multivorans 50,362 62.9 PHAGE_Aeromo_vB_AsaM_56_NC_019527(15) DVT 4608_prophage 1 DVT 4608 B. multivorans 50,362 62.9 - PHAGE_Aeromo_vB_AsaM_56_NC_019527(15)
DVT 1608_prophage 2 DVT 1608 B. multivorans 37,188 63.4 1 PHAGE_Burkho_KS5_NC_015265(35)
DVT 1627_prophage 1 DVT 1627 B. cenocepacia 34,069 62.4 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(32)
DVT 599_prophage 1 DVT 599 B. cenocepacia 26,389 65.4 10 PHAGE_Salmon_SEN34_NC_028699(19)
DVT 599_prophage 2 DVT 599 B. cenocepacia 29,200 68.2 5 PHAGE_Burkho_KL3_NC_015266(24)
DVT 614_prophage 1 DVT 614 B. cenocepacia 18,756 62.7 6 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(14)
DVT 614_prophage 2 DVT 614 B. cenocepacia 14,871 61.7 7 PHAGE_Burkho_KS9_NC_013055(20)
DVT 790 prophage 1 DVT 790 B. cenocepacia 8,265 63.1 11 PHAGE Stx2 c Stx2a F451 NC 049924(3)
DVT 790_prophage 1 DVT 790 B. cenocepacia 8,265 63.1 11 PHAGE_Stx2_C_Stx2a_451_NC_049924(3) DVT 790 prophage 2 DVT 790 B. cenocepacia 18,495 62.4 6 PHAGE_Stx2_C_Stx2a_451_NC_049924(3)

Appendix Table 1. Prophages Identified in Burkholderia Bacterial Isolate Genomes

Appendix B

CCC Marketplace[™]

This is a License Agreement between Hayley Nordstrom ("User") and Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC") on behalf of the Rightsholder identified in the order details below. The license consists of the order details, the CCC Terms and Conditions below, and any Rightsholder Terms and Conditions which are included below.

All payments must be made in full to CCC in accordance with the CCC Terms and Conditions below.

Order Date Order License ID ISSN	25-Apr-2022 1214829-1 2150-7511	Type of Use Publisher Portion	Republish in a thesis/dissertation American Society for Microbiology Chart/graph/table/figure
LICENSED CONTENT			
Publication Title	mBio	Rightsholder	American Society for Microbiology
Article Title	The Effects of Signal Erosion and		Journals
	Core Genome Reduction on the Identification of Diagnostic	Publication Type	e-Journal
	Markers.	Start Page	e00846 16 5
Author/Editor	American Society for Microbiology.	lssue Volume	7
Date	01/01/2010	URL	/ https://journals.asm.org/journal/m
Language	English	URL	bio
Country	United States of America		
REQUEST DETAILS			
Portion Type	Chart/graph/table/figure	Distribution	United States
Number of charts / graphs / tables	1	Translation	Original language of publication
figures requested		Copies for the disabled?	No
Format (select all that apply)	Electronic	Minor editing privileges?	No
Who will republish the content?	Academic institution	Incidental promotional use?	No
Duration of Use	Current edition and up to 5 years	Currency	USD
Lifetime Unit Quantity	Up to 499		
Rights Requested	Main product		
NEW WORK DETAILS			
Title	Harnessing the diversity of Burkholderia spp. prophages for therapeutic potential	Institution name Expected presentation date	University of Pittsburgh 2022-04-29
Instructor name	Dr. Daria Van Tyne		
ADDITIONAL DETAILS			
Order reference number	N/A	The requesting person / organization to appear on the license	Hayley Nordstrom
REUSE CONTENT DETAIL	S		
Title, description or numeric reference of the portion(s)	Figure 1	Title of the article/chapter the portion is from	The Effects of Signal Erosion and Core Genome Reduction on the Identification of Diagnostic
Title, description or numeric eference of the portion(s) Editor of portion(s)	Figure 1 N/A		
Title, description or numeric reference of the portion(s) Editor of portion(s) Volume of serial or monograph	Figure 1 N/A 7		Core Genome Reduction on the Identification of Diagnostic
Title, description or numeric	Figure 1 N/A	portion is from	Core Genome Reduction on the Identification of Diagnostic Markers.

Appendix Figure 1. Usage License Details

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 26, 2022

This Agreement between Ms. Hayley Nordstrom ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	5296081029792			
License date	Apr 25, 2022			
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature			
Licensed Content Publication Nature Reviews Genetics				
Licensed Content Title	The future of bacteriophage biology			
Licensed Content Author	Allan Campbell			
Licensed Content Date	Jun 1, 2003			
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation			
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute			
Format	electronic			
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations			
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1			
High-res required	no			
Will you be translating?	no			
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29			
Author of this Springer Nature content	no			
Title	Harnessing the diversity of Burkholderia spp. prophages for therapeutic potential			
Institution name	University of Pittsburgh			

Appendix Figure 2. Usage License Details

Bibliography

- 1. A. Sawana, M. Adeolu, R. S. Gupta, Molecular signatures and phylogenomic analysis of the genus Burkholderia: proposal for division of this genus into the emended genus Burkholderia containing pathogenic organisms and a new genus Paraburkholderia gen. nov. harboring environmental species. Front. Genet. 5, 429 (2014).
- 2. E. Mahenthiralingam, T. A. Urban, J. B. Goldberg, The multifarious, multireplicon Burkholderia cepacia complex. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 3, 144–156 (2005).
- 3. T. Coenye, P. Vandamme, J. R. Govan, J. J. LiPuma, Taxonomy and identification of the Burkholderia cepacia complex. J. Clin. Microbiol. 39, 3427–3436 (2001).
- 4. R. Somayaji, et al., Clinical Outcomes Associated with Burkholderia cepacia Complex Infection in Patients with Cystic Fibrosis. Ann. Am. Thorac. Soc. 17, 1542–1548 (2020).
- 5. J. R. Govan, V. Deretic, Microbial pathogenesis in cystic fibrosis: mucoid Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Burkholderia cepacia. Microbiol. Rev. 60, 539–574 (1996).
- 6. A. M. Jones, M. E. Dodd, A. K. Webb, Burkholderia cepacia: current clinical issues, environmental controversies and ethical dilemmas. Eur. Respir. J. 17, 295–301 (2001).
- I. López-Hernández, M. Suárez-Gutiérrez, E. E. Santos-Chávez, S. Espinosa, L. Blancas-Galicia, [Chronic granulomatous disease. Update and review]. Rev. Alerg. Mex. 66, 232– 245 (2019).
- 8. G. Zahariadis, M. H. Levy, J. L. Burns, Cepacia-like syndrome caused by Burkholderia multivorans. Can. J. Infect. Dis. 14, 123–125 (2003).
- 9. J. W. Branstetter, A. Yarbrough, C. Poole, Management of Cepacia Syndrome With a Combination of Intravenous and Inhaled Antimicrobials in a Non-Cystic Fibrosis Pediatric Patient. J. Pediatr. Pharmacol. Ther. 25, 730–734 (2020).
- J. Bodilis, et al., Comparative Genomics of Environmental and Clinical Burkholderia cenocepacia Strains Closely Related to the Highly Transmissible Epidemic ET12 Lineage. Front. Microbiol. 9, 383 (2018).
- 11. K. H. Lynch, P. Stothard, J. J. Dennis, Genomic analysis and relatedness of P2-like phages of the Burkholderia cepacia complex. BMC Genomics 11, 599 (2010).
- 12. P. Lauman, J. J. Dennis, Advances in Phage Therapy: Targeting the Burkholderia cepacia Complex. Viruses 13 (2021).
- 13. Y. Ahn, et al., Intrinsic Resistance of Burkholderia cepacia Complex to Benzalkonium Chloride. MBio 7 (2016).

- J. J. LiPuma, et al., Disproportionate distribution of Burkholderia cepacia complex species and transmissibility markers in cystic fibrosis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164, 92–96 (2001).
- 15. P. G. Middleton, T. J. Kidd, B. Williams, Combination aerosol therapy to treat Burkholderia cepacia complex. Eur. Respir. J. 26, 305–308 (2005).
- 16. R. Weiser, et al., A Novel Inducible Prophage from Burkholderia Vietnamiensis G4 is Widely Distributed across the Species and Has Lytic Activity against Pathogenic Burkholderia. Viruses 12 (2020).
- 17. J. W. Sahl, et al., The effects of signal erosion and core genome reduction on the identification of diagnostic markers. MBio 7 (2016).
- 18. K. D. Seed, J. J. Dennis, Isolation and characterization of bacteriophages of the Burkholderia cepacia complex. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 251, 273–280 (2005).
- 19. M. R. Clokie, A. D. Millard, A. V. Letarov, S. Heaphy, Phages in nature. Bacteriophage 1, 31–45 (2011).
- 20. A. Campbell, The future of bacteriophage biology. Nat. Rev. Genet. 4, 471–477 (2003).
- 21. C. Howard-Varona, K. R. Hargreaves, S. T. Abedon, M. B. Sullivan, Lysogeny in nature: mechanisms, impact and ecology of temperate phages. ISME J. 11, 1511–1520 (2017).
- 22. G. A. Suh, et al., Considerations for the use of phage therapy in clinical practice. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 66, e0207121 (2022).
- 23. R. T. Schooley, et al., Development and Use of Personalized Bacteriophage-Based Therapeutic Cocktails To Treat a Patient with a Disseminated Resistant Acinetobacter baumannii Infection. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 61 (2017).
- 24. R. M. Dedrick, et al., Engineered bacteriophages for treatment of a patient with a disseminated drug-resistant Mycobacterium abscessus. Nat. Med. 25, 730–733 (2019).
- 25. A. Mu, et al., Assessment of the microbiome during bacteriophage therapy in combination with systemic antibiotics to treat a case of staphylococcal device infection. Microbiome 9, 92 (2021).
- 26. A. Bruttin, H. Brüssow, Human volunteers receiving Escherichia coli phage T4 orally: a safety test of phage therapy. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 49, 2874–2878 (2005).
- 27. World Health Organization, "Antibacterial agents in clinical development: an analysis of the antibacterial clinical development pipeline, including tuberculosis." (World Health Organisation, 2017).
- 28. S. Aslam, et al., Early clinical experience of bacteriophage therapy in 3 lung transplant recipients. Am. J. Transplant. 19, 2631–2639 (2019).

- 29. K. D. Seed, J. J. Dennis, Experimental bacteriophage therapy increases survival of Galleria mellonella larvae infected with clinically relevant strains of the Burkholderia cepacia complex. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 2205–2208 (2009).
- 30. B. Roszniowski, et al., The temperate Burkholderia phage AP3 of the Peduovirinae shows efficient antimicrobial activity against B. cenocepacia of the IIIA lineage. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 101, 1203–1216 (2017).
- 31. L. A. Carmody, et al., Efficacy of bacteriophage therapy in a model of Burkholderia cenocepacia pulmonary infection. J. Infect. Dis. 201, 264–271 (2010).
- D. D. Semler, A. D. Goudie, W. H. Finlay, J. J. Dennis, Aerosol phage therapy efficacy in Burkholderia cepacia complex respiratory infections. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 4005–4013 (2014).
- R. R. Raya, E. M. H'bert, Isolation of phage via induction of lysogens. Methods Mol. Biol. 501, 23–32 (2009).
- R. M. Dedrick, et al., Mycobacterium abscessus Strain Morphotype Determines Phage Susceptibility, the Repertoire of Therapeutically Useful Phages, and Phage Resistance. MBio 12 (2021).
- 35. D. W. Ussery, et al., The genus burkholderia: analysis of 56 genomic sequences. Genome Dyn. 6, 140–157 (2009).
- 36. B. Roszniowski, S. McClean, Z. Drulis-Kawa, Burkholderia cenocepacia Prophages-Prevalence, Chromosome Location and Major Genes Involved. Viruses 10 (2018).
- 37. D. Arndt, et al., PHASTER: a better, faster version of the PHAST phage search tool. Nucleic Acids Res. 44, W16-21 (2016).
- 38. P. Shannon, et al., Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. Genome Res. 13, 2498–2504 (2003).
- A. J. Sundermann, et al., Whole genome sequencing surveillance and machine learning of the electronic health record for enhanced healthcare outbreak detection. Clin. Infect. Dis. (2021) https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab946.
- 40. A. Bankevich, et al., SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J. Comput. Biol. 19, 455–477 (2012).
- 41. R. K. Aziz, et al., The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. BMC Genomics 9, 75 (2008).
- 42. A. Stamatakis, T. Ludwig, H. Meier, RAxML-III: a fast program for maximum likelihoodbased inference of large phylogenetic trees. Bioinformatics 21, 456–463 (2005).

- 43. C. Jain, L. M. Rodriguez-R, A. M. Phillippy, K. T. Konstantinidis, S. Aluru, High throughput ANI analysis of 90K prokaryotic genomes reveals clear species boundaries. Nat. Commun. 9, 5114 (2018).
- D. Couvin, et al., CRISPRCasFinder, an update of CRISRFinder, includes a portable version, enhanced performance and integrates search for Cas proteins. Nucleic Acids Res. 46, W246–W251 (2018).
- N. Otsuji, M. Sekiguchi, T. Iijima, Y. Takagi, Induction of phage formation in the lysogenic Escherichia coli K-12 by mitomycin C. Nature 184(Suppl 14), 1079–1080 (1959).
- 46. J. Oliveira, et al., Detecting Lactococcus lactis Prophages by Mitomycin C-Mediated Induction Coupled to Flow Cytometry Analysis. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1343 (2017).
- 47. R. Langley, D. T. Kenna, P. Vandamme, R. Ure, J. R. W. Govan, Lysogeny and bacteriophage host range within the Burkholderia cepacia complex. J. Med. Microbiol. 52, 483–490 (2003).
- 48. S. F. Altschul, W. Gish, W. Miller, E. W. Myers, D. J. Lipman, Basic local alignment search tool. J. Mol. Biol. 215, 403–410 (1990).
- 49. T. N. Mavrich, G. F. Hatfull, Evolution of superinfection immunity in cluster A mycobacteriophages. MBio 10 (2019).
- 50. K. Shi, et al., Structural basis of superinfection exclusion by bacteriophage T4 Spackle. Commun. Biol. 3, 691 (2020).
- R. Monteiro, D. P. Pires, A. R. Costa, J. Azeredo, Phage therapy: going temperate? Trends Microbiol. 27, 368–378 (2019).
- 52. B. K. Chan, et al., Phage selection restores antibiotic sensitivity in MDR Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Sci. Rep. 6, 26717 (2016).
- 53. J. Bao, et al., Non-active antibiotic and bacteriophage synergism to successfully treat recurrent urinary tract infection caused by extensively drug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 9, 771–774 (2020).
- 54. X. Wang, et al., Colistin-phage combinations decrease antibiotic resistance in Acinetobacter baumannii via changes in envelope architecture. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 10, 2205–2219 (2021).
- 55. E. V. Davies, C. Winstanley, J. L. Fothergill, C. E. James, The role of temperate bacteriophages in bacterial infection. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 363, fnw015 (2016).
- K. H. Lynch, K. D. Seed, P. Stothard, J. J. Dennis, Inactivation of Burkholderia cepacia complex phage KS9 gp41 identifies the phage repressor and generates lytic virions. J. Virol. 84, 1276–1288 (2010).